IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY
DEPARTMENT OF AVIATION,
a political subdivision of the State
of Nevada,

Appellant,
vs.

SOUTHERN NEVADA LABOR
MANAGEMENT
COOPERATION COMMITTEE,
by and through its Trustees Terry
Mayfield and Chris
Christophersen (Petitioner
Below); and OFFICE OF THE
LABOR COMMISSIONER
(Respondent Below),

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 83252

District Court Case No.
A-18-781866-J

Electronically Filed
Nov 19 2021 02:12 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP
MARK J. RICCARDI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 3141
ALLISON L. KHEEL, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12986
300 S. Fourth Street
Suite 1500
Las Vegas, NV 89101

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

On August 30, 2018, the Office of the Labor Commissioner (“OLC”) issued a final written agency decision, which ruled against Southern Nevada Labor Management Cooperation Committee (“LMCC”) and found no violation of prevailing wage laws based solely on its finding that the carpet replacement work for the CCDOA was not funded by “public money,” as that term is used in NRS Chapter 338. Joint Appendix (hereinafter “APP”) 248-249, Vol. 2. On September 27, 2018, LMCC filed a Petition for Judicial Review before the District Court. APP 001-009, Vol. 1.

On February 4, 2020, the District Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Petition for Judicial Review (the “February Order”). APP 389-399, Vol. 2. The CCDOA filed a Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification of the February Order on February 21, 2020. APP 400-414, Vol. 2. The CCDOA also filed a timely appeal of the February Order on March 9, 2020, which was assigned Case No. 80798 (“Prior Appeal”). APP 421-435, Vol. 2. The Prior Appeal was later dismissed by the Nevada Supreme Court on July 30, 2020, finding that the CCDOA’s Motion for Reconsideration was a tolling motion, and the Prior Appeal was premature. APP 473-474, Vo. 2.

1 The District Court subsequently issued an Order on the CCDOA's
2 Motion for Reconsideration dated June 25, 2021 (hereinafter the "June
3 Order"). APP 475-480, Vol. 2. The Order modifies and clarifies several
4 of the findings in the February Order and the documents must be read
5 together to determine the final decision of the District Court. ("June
6 Order" and "February Order" collectively referred to as the "Decision").
7
8 APP 389-399; APP 475-480, Vol. 2. The February Order clarifies that the
9 Decision is intended to be a "final order" and is only intended to remand
10 the matter back to the OLC for "ministerial" determinations of the amount
11 of wages due. APP 478:9-479:9, Vol. 2. The Decision on its face has
12 substantive finality. *See Bally's Grand Hotel & Casino v. Reeves*, 112 Nev.
13 1487, 1489 (1996) (finding a final appealable order resolving all claims
14 between all parties where "The district court's order merely sent the case
15 back for a calculation of the amount due Reeves pursuant to the conclusion
16 that she was entitled to benefits. . . . The district court's order reversing the
17 appeals officer's decision that Reeves was entitled to benefits cannot be
18 altered by any decision on remand calculating benefits"). While this
19 Appeal argues that the District Court exceeded the scope of its authority by
20 deciding the maintenance issue and placing limitations on the scope of the
21 OLC's review, if the Decision is enforced as written, the CCDOA is
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 prohibited from introducing (and the OLC is prohibited from receiving)
2 evidence showing this carpet installation work is exempt maintenance
3 work. Thus, the Decision is a substantively final order on the issue that
4 prevailing wages are due and owing and is a final order denying a stay of
5 enforcement (which is a request for injunctive relief). Thus, the Decision
6 is a final order for purposes of appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and (3). To
7 hold otherwise would allow the erroneous actions of the District Court to
8 escape judicial review. On July 16, 2021, the CCDOA timely filed this
9 Appeal from the Decision in accordance with NRAP 4(a) and pursuant to
10 NRS § 233B.150. APP 481-502, Vol. 3.
11

12 Alternatively, if this Court were to find that that the Decision was
13 not a final order giving right to an immediate appeal, the CCDOA hereby
14 Petitions in the alternative for a Writ of Prohibition and/or a Writ of
15 Certiorari to ensure the errors of the Decision do not escape substantive
16 judicial review. The Petition in the alternative is supported by the
17 Affidavit of Counsel, Allison L. Kheel, Esq., attached hereto as **Exhibit A**.
18
19

20 **ROUTING STATEMENT**

21 The Supreme Court should retain assignment of this case. This is an
22 Appeal of a Final Order Granting a Petition for Judicial Review of the final
23 agency determination issued by the OLC under the Administrative
24
25
26
27
28

1 Procedure Act, NRS § 233B.150. This Court has primary jurisdiction over
2 matters which present questions of first impression as well as matters
3 which present questions of statewide importance. *See* NRAP 17(a)(13)
4 and (14). This case meets both requirements.

5
6 Here, the CCDOA argues that the District Court exceeded its
7 authority and jurisdiction by making factual findings beyond the
8 administrative record and OLC's sole "public money" determination.
9 Additionally, the District Court's Decision purports to retain jurisdiction
10 over this case despite simultaneously ordering the matter remanded to the
11 OLC. APP 398, Vol. 2. The Decision also purports to preclude the OLC
12 from ever making a determination that the carpet maintenance work is
13 "routine maintenance" work and exempt from prevailing wage
14 requirements. APP 478, Vol. 2. This case presents issues of first
15 impression regarding the District Court's authority to impose restrictions
16 upon an administrative agency's review upon remand, and the amount of
17 evidence which is sufficient to show work is maintenance work and
18 exempt from the prevailing wage.
19
20
21
22
23

24 This case also presents matters of statewide importance as resolution
25 of the issues in this case will have enormous practical and financial
26 implications for county and municipal governments, their contracting and
27
28

1 bidding practices, and their budgets. Requiring the CCDOA to pay
2 prevailing wage rates for normal, everyday maintenance work (the vast
3 majority of which is regularly performed by the CCDOA’s own “in-house”
4 employees) would ultimately hinder all state and local government efforts
5 to provide efficient operations to service the needs of the public.
6

7
8 Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court previously issued two Orders
9 to Show Cause in the Prior Appeal, Case No. 80798, designating the
10 Motion for Reconsideration filed in the District Court as a tolling motion,
11 which resulted in the clarifying June Order which further complicated this
12 matter. APP 473-480, Vo. 2. Additionally, after the District Court denied
13 the CCDOA’s Request for a Stay Pending Appeal, the Nevada Supreme
14 Court also heard and denied the CCDOA’s Request for a Stay based on an
15 illusory stipulation from the LMCC. Docket Entry 21-24557 (“LMCC
16 pointed out that ‘no one is arguing that workers should be given the unpaid
17 wages while the appeal is pending’” and the “LMCC indicated that it has
18 ‘stipulated that [Labor Commissioner’s] calculation will have no
19 preclusive effect pending the appeal.’”). On Appeal, the Court may be
20 called upon to review the Supreme Court’s Decision on the Request for a
21 Stay. As many of the issues on Appeal will be impacted by the currently
22 ongoing proceedings before the OLC, this case also presents a unique
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 procedural posture and question of law pertaining to simultaneous
2 litigation of the same matter in separate forums. *See* Ex. A at ¶ 11. Thus,
3
4 the Nevada Supreme Court should retain this case despite it being
5 presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(9), in
6 the interest of judicial efficiency and consistency.
7

8 **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

9 1. Whether the OLC correctly held that the carpet installation
10 work under Bid No 17-604273 was not subject to prevailing wage because
11 the work is not funded by “public money”?

12 2. Whether the District Court can retain jurisdiction over future
13 proceedings beyond merely enforcing its Order, while simultaneously
14 remanding the matter, and ceding jurisdiction to the OLC?

15 3. Whether the District Court erred by making factual and legal
16 findings that went beyond the Labor Commissioner’s sole “public money”
17 determination and the scant, undeveloped administrative record that was
18 before the District Court?

19 4. Whether the District Court erred by improperly limiting the
20 Labor Commissioner’s authority to hold a hearing, receive and consider
21 evidence, and reach an original determination regarding the scope of the
22 work and whether the nature of the work was exempt maintenance work?

23 5. Whether the District Court erred by denying the CCDOA’s
24 Request for a Stay Pending Appeal?

25 **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

26 This Appeal seeks review of the District Court’s Decision granting
27 the LMCC’s Petition for Judicial Review (“PJR”) of the OLC’s final
28 agency determination under the Administrative Procedure Act, NRS
Chapter 233B. APP 478-479, Vol. 2. The OLC’s determination that the

1 carpet maintenance and installation work was not subject to the prevailing
2 wage requirements of NRS Chapter 338 was based solely on the OLC's
3 determination that this work was not funded by "public money." APP 007-
4 008, Vol. 1. As the OLC viewed the public money issues as a
5 determinative threshold issue, the OLC never held an evidentiary hearing
6 to investigate other reasons why this work is exempt from the prevailing
7 wage. APP 234-249, Vol. 2. The District Court's Decision exceeded its
8 authority and jurisdiction by making findings beyond the administrative
9 record. The remainder of the procedural posture of this case is outlined in
10 the Statement of Facts below.

11 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

12 **A. Original Administrative Proceedings Before The OLC**

13 On April 28, 2017, LMCC filed a complaint with the OLC averring
14 that the CCDOA bid certain carpet maintenance work (Bid No. 17-604273)
15 in violation of prevailing wage laws contained in NRS Chapter 338. APP
16 014-019, Vol. 1. The Labor Commissioner did not hold a full evidentiary
17 hearing on this matter but did request and receive evidence on the
18 CCDOA's budget, tax revenue allocation and funding sources of the
19 maintenance work performed by the CCDOA. APP 234-249; APP 393 at
20 ¶ 15, Vols. 1 and 2. No evidence was presented to or considered by the
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 OLC as to the nature or scope of the work and whether that work was
2 properly classified as “maintenance work.” APP 009-249, Vol. 1.
3

4 On August 30, 2018, the OLC issued a final agency decision which
5 ruled against LMCC and found no violation of prevailing wage laws based
6 solely on its finding that the carpet replacement work for the CCDOA was
7 not funded by “public money,” as that term is used in NRS Chapter 338.
8 APP 007-008, Vol. 1.
9

10 The OLC’s Determination stated in relevant part:
11

12 The complaint alleged possible violations of Nevada
13 Revised Statutes (NRS) 338.010 to 338.090, inclusive, or
14 Nevada Administrative Code (NAC) 338.005 to 338.125,
15 inclusive. DOA asserted carpet maintenance work is financed
16 from two sources airline revenues and non-airline revenues.
17 None of the repairs and maintenance funds are financed in
18 any part through any taxes or public money. The DOA is not
19 subsidized by any tax revenues of the County and has been a
20 self-sustaining entity since 1966. DOA represented in writing
21 that the work in question is not paid for with public money.
22

23 The Office of the Labor Commissioner has completed
24 its review of the complaint. The compliance review
25 conducted did not reveal violations of Nevada labor laws with
26 regards to NRS Chapter 338 or NAC Chapter 338. This
27 complaint has been closed.
28

APP 007, Vol. 1. The OLC’s determination does not discuss a definition
of “maintenance” nor discuss any facts pertaining to the nature of the
work. APP 007, Vol. 1.

1 **B. The LMCC’s Petition For Judicial Review**

2 On September 27, 2018, LMCC filed a PJR before the District Court
3
4 seeking to reverse the OLC’s decision. APP 001-009, Vol. 1. The PJR
5 alleged:

6 [t]he DOA, in the Bid documents, separated the Project’s
7 material costs from the Project’s labor costs. This is a
8 violation under NRS § 338.080(3), which reads in part: “A
9 *unit of the project* must not be separated from the total
10 project, even if that unit is to be completed at a later time, in
order to lower the cost of the project below \$250,000.”

11 APP 002:13-17, Vol. 1 (emphasis added). The PJR also asserted that
12 “[t]he matter is clearly not maintenance” without any argument or evidence
13 to support this claim. APP 003:9, Vol. 1.

14 The District Court held a Hearing on August 27, 2019. APP 363-
15 388, Vol. 2. The District Court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions
16 of Law and Order Granting Petition for Judicial Review on February 4,
17 2020. APP 389-399, Vol. 2.

18 The February Order made several problematic findings, including:

- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22 • “The Court rules and Orders that the money received by the
23 Airport is public money within the meaning of NRS 338 and
24 that the Project did not constitute maintenance within the
meaning of NRS 338 et seq.” APP 398:9-11, Vol. 2;
 - 25 • “The Court further Orders the matter remanded to the OLC
26 for the sole purposes of determining the amount, if any, of the
27 completed work that constitutes maintenance and to whom
28 and how much additional wages should be paid for work

subject to NRS 338 et seq.’s prevailing wage requirements.” APP 398:12-15, Vol. 2;

- “In making such a determination, the OLC must not separate the Project into smaller units as doing so is in violation of Nevada law.” APP 398:15-16, Vol. 2;
- “The Court further Orders that it retains jurisdiction over any subsequent proceedings that may be necessary for the collection of information, the enforcement of this Order or for further review, if any, as may be sought by the parties.” APP 398:21-23, Vol. 2.¹

C. The CCDOA’s Motion For Reconsideration And The Prior Appeal

Due to numerous legal and factual errors contained in the February Order, the CCDOA filed a Motion for Reconsideration or Clarification of the February Order on February 21, 2020. APP 400-414, Vol. 2. The

¹ The following additional factual findings pertain to the discussions of the issues identified above:

- “The DOA, in 2016, published an Invitation to Bid, Bid No. 17-604273, for the removal and replacement of 12,000 square feet (approximately the area of two football fields) of carpet and 5,000 linear feet (approximately the distance of one mile) of base cover (collectively referred to herein as ‘Project’).” APP 392:9-12, Vol. 2.
- “The DOA further asserted that the carpet and base cover replacement was performed in smaller sections and so as not to interfere with Airport operations.” APP 392:9-12, Vol. 2.
- “The DOA separated Project material costs from Project labor costs.” APP 394:15, Vol. 2.

1 CCDOA also filed a timely appeal of the February Order on March 9,
2 2020, which was assigned Case No. 80798. APP 421-435, Vol. 2. The
3
4 Prior Appeal was later dismissed by the Nevada Supreme Court on July 30,
5 2020, finding that the CCDOA's Motion for Reconsideration was a tolling
6 motion and the Prior Appeal was premature. APP 473-474, Vol. 2.
7

8 The District Court held a hearing on the Motion for Reconsideration
9 on March 31, 2020, and stated the following relevant excerpts on the
10 record:
11

- 12 • “. . . potential ways in which it could be read to be
13 inconsistent, and some indication of findings that maybe need
14 to be clarified, that were the Court's findings, and not the
15 Labor Commissioner's findings as to whether this was
16 maintenance.” APP 444:22-445:1, Vol. 2.
- 17 • “The outcome is the outcome. The Court is finding that it
18 wasn't maintenance. The Court is finding that it should be
19 remanded to the Labor Commissioner to proceed as directed.
20 And the only issue was, you know, should this Court have
21 retained any of its own jurisdiction following that remand, and
22 where exactly was the finding with regard to the maintenance,
23 and that ultimately it is a final order. And if we make all of
24 those clarifications in the order, the outcome is still the same.
25 The appeal is unchanged, but I believe it at least clarifies the
26 Court's intent with those pieces of the final order.” APP
27 447:11-24, Vol. 2.
- 28 • “I agree with everyone's assessment at this point with the
appeal we are confined with what we can do, and so I think
the best course of action, it really was the Court's intent, you
know, if the Court's review of the order as it came in, as it
was written, was deficient, and the Court did not hand-correct
or send back for correction certain things that were perhaps

incorrect or inconsistent with its order, that's the Court's obligation to have been more on top of things. And that's the Court's fault, that the Court can at least clarify a couple of things now." APP 456:9-20, Vol. 2.

- "I think that this is motion seeking clarification. On that limited basis, the Court is going to give the clarification that it was not the Court's intention to retain jurisdiction for any Labor Commissioner proceedings. And to the extent that the order was worded that way, that was not the Court's intent, and would issue the advisory understanding that it was the Court's intent for the jurisdiction only to be retained for purposes of enforcing the order, or other appropriate basis upon which it would have had further jurisdiction." APP 457:6-17, Vol. 2.

D. The District Court Issues The June Order Modifying The February Order

The District Court subsequently issued an Order on the Motion for Reconsideration dated June 25, 2021. APP 475-480, Vol. 2. Notably, the June Order states the following in pertinent part:

Retention of jurisdiction.

The Court clarifies that paragraph 7 on page 8 of the February Order was intended to allow the Court to enforce ***and interpret*** the February Order, *see Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey*, 129 S. Ct. 2195, 2205, 557 U.S. 137, 151 (2009), and not to interfere with the Labor Commissioner in the performance of her duties. The Labor Commissioner is free to perform her duties, but the Labor Commissioner and the other parties are not free to disobey this Court's Order.

Improper conclusion of law regarding maintenance.

The administrative record and argument presented to the Court by the DOA indicated that the Labor Commissioner treated the contract at issue as a maintenance contract ***paid for***

1 *with repair and maintenance funds.* The Court disagreed,
2 finding that the contract at issue is not a maintenance
3 contract, which findings are consistent with the
4 administrative record, which also addressed whethe[r] the
contract at issue was a maintenance contract.

5 Incorrectly made new factual findings.

6 The Court made no new factual findings. The Court's
7 findings were based upon the administrative record as
8 presented and argued to the Court.

9 Improper limitation on agency's decision making.

10 In remanding the matter to the Labor Commissioner,
11 the Court intends for the Labor Commissioner to use
12 applicable prevailing wage rates to determine the value of
13 wages due and ensure that the unpaid wages are properly
14 paid. The Court considers these tasks to be ministerial in
15 nature. . . . To be clear, if wages were earned for work
16 performed on the project pursuant to the flooring contract and
its scope of work, those wages are to be paid at the applicable
prevailing wage rate because they were earned pursuant to a
public works construction contract.

17 APP 478:9-479:9, Vol. 2 (emphasis added). The June Order modifies and
18 clarifies several of the findings in the February Order and the documents
19 must be read together to determine the final decision of the District Court.

20 APP 389-399; 475-480, Vol. 2.

21
22 **E. The Current Appeal, The Denial Of The CCDOA's**
23 **Request To Stay This Case Pending Appeal And The**
24 **Current Administrative Proceedings Before The OLC**

25 Due to the language of the June Order creating additional legal
26 issues and failing to resolve the previous legal errors identified in the

27 ///

1 Motion for Reconsideration, the CCDOA timely filed the instant appeal²
2 on July 16, 2021. APP 481-502, Vol. 3. Together with filing the Appeal,
3 the CCDOA filed a request for a stay pending appeal in the District Court
4 on an order shortening time. APP 503-542, Vol. 3. The District Court
5 denied the requested stay and held:
6

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