## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY DEPARTMENT	NO: 83252
OF AVIATION, Appellant, VS.	District Court Case No: A-18-78186 Electronically Filed Jan 19 2022 03:52 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
SOUTHERN NEVADA LABOR	RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING
MANAGEMENT COOPERATION	BRIEF
COMMITTEE, AND OFFICE OF	
THE LABOR COMMISSIONER,	APPEAL / ALTERNATE PETITION
Respondent.	
	-

The Southern Nevada Labor Management Cooperation Committee

("LMCC") submits its Answering Brief.

Dated: January 19, 2022.

CHRISTENSEN JAMES & MARTIN

By: /s/ Evan L. James

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

### ARGUMENT

### **1.** Nevada's statutory definition of public money is controlling.

a. <u>Statutory and regulatory definitions show DOA's money is public</u>

money.

The District Court ruled correctly that money received by the DOA is public

money, regardless of source.

"Public money" means all money deposited with a depository by any of the following:

(b) An official custodian with plenary authority, including control over money belonging to, or held for the benefit of, the State or any of its political subdivisions, public corporations, municipal corporations, courts, or public agencies, boards, commissions or committees.

NRS 356.330(1). "The term includes, without limitation, savings deposits and demand deposits." NAC 356.080. Thus, all money held by or for the benefit of the DOA, which is a public agency, is "public money." The statute does not distinguish between sources of money. In fact, the word "all" in NRS 356.330(1) establishes that the source of the DOA's money is irrelevant. The DOA's argument and the Labor Commissioner's decision that money received from airport operations is not public money were inconsistent with the express and unambiguous statutory and regulatory definitions. The DOA's large-scale flooring contract was and is subject to NRS 338 because it involves public money.

# b. <u>Other statutes show that money received from airport operations is public</u> money.

Statutes specific to the airport confirm money received by the airport is public money.

All land and other property and privileges acquired and used by or on behalf of any municipality or other public agency in the manner and for the purposes enumerated in this chapter shall and are hereby declared to be acquired and used for public and governmental purposes and as a matter of public necessity, and, in the case of a county or municipality, for county or municipal purposes, respectively.

NRS 496.250(2). This establishes that all "*other property*" obtained by the DOA is for a public use. "'Property' means: Money...." NRS 205.2195(2); *see also, Hanson v. Estate of Bjerke*, 95 P.3d 704 (Mont., 2004) ("[T]he statutory definition of 'personal property' reflects the widely accepted definition. Black's Law Dictionary states that personal property is, '[i]n [a] broad and general sense, everything that is the subject of ownership, not coming under denomination of real estate.' Black's Law Dictionary, 1217 (6th ed.1990)."); *U.S. v. Baker*, 183 F. 280, 282 (C.C.N.Y. 1910) ("It is, of course, true that money is personal property."). Since money is property, NRS 496.250(2) compels the conclusion that "[money] ... acquired and used by or on behalf of [the Clark County DOA] in the manner and for the purposes enumerated in this chapter [governing airports] shall and are hereby declared to be acquired and used for public and governmental purposes...."

To be clear, the Nevada Legislature declared that money collected by the DOA is "acquired and used for public and governmental purposes," which must include the purposes of NRS 338 *et seq*. for work at airport facilities. *See also* NRS 496.250(1) (confirming that all airport operations "are hereby declared to be public and governmental functions, exercised for a public purpose, and matters of public necessity....") To conclude that money collected and used by the DOA for airport

construction projects or operations is not public money would require this Court to disregard explicit Nevada statutory authority.

#### c. Nevada caselaw shows that DOA revenues are public money.

The Court previously rejected the DOA's argument that the money it uses is not public money. *See Bombardier Transportation (Holdings) USA. Inc. v. Nevada Labor Commissioner*, 433 P.3d 248, 251 (Nev., 2019). In *Bombardier*, the DOA's Director testified that work performed at the airport under a "maintenance contract" was not subject to Nevada's prevailing wage laws because the money comes from "normal operating funds" not subject to NRS 338 *et seq*. On page 5 of its answering brief before this Court in the *Bombardier* case, the DOA (acting through the same law firm representing it in this Case) joined in and adopted the entirety of Bombardier's Opening Brief, and then went on to argue that the Labor Commissioner's decision in *Bombardier* requiring the payment of prevailing wages was

> legally improper, but it also has extensive repercussions on how the Clark County Department of Aviation will function within the state. Clark County is the largest local government entity in Nevada, and unlike other Departments within the Clark County government, the Department of Aviation operates without the County's general fund tax revenue.

Respondent Clark County's Answering Brief at 5, *Bombardier*, 433 P.3d 248 (No. 71101).<sup>2</sup> On page 7 of that same brief, the DOA expressly acknowledged (in an apparent reference to this very Case) that the decision in *Bombardier* would be binding in future cases like this one, stating:

Indeed, other contractors and labor unions are already using the clearly erroneous decisions from the Labor Commissioner and the District Court in the subject case, in an attempt to apply an overly broad definition of "public works" to basic maintenance contracts. If this improper precedent from the Labor Commissioner and the District Court is not overturned, labor unions and contractors will continue to try to apply prevailing wages to more and more maintenance contracts, which is contrary to NRS Chapter 332 and the explicit exception created by NRS 338.011(1).

*Id.* at 7. From this history, it is clear that this, the Nevada Supreme Court, was fully advised and actually intended that its decision in *Bombardier* be controlling in cases like this present one. It is also evidence that DOA's actions in pressing the same arguments before the Labor Commissioner, the District Court, and now this Court, have no basis in law, having previously been rejected.

In Bombardier, this Court specifically held that the money used by the DOA

is public money.

Bombardier also contends that ... the "financ[ing]" language in NRS 338.010(15) excludes maintenance contracts from the definition of "project" because such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pursuant to NRS 47.150(2) and NRS 47.130, the LMCC requests that this Court take judicial notice of the prior DOA briefing. A copy of the DOA's brief is included at App. 349-362.

contracts are paid for with normal operating funds rather than bonds or long-term debt measures.

We conclude that Bombardier's arguments are belied by the plain language of NRS 338.010(15) ... <u>the financing</u> <u>language in the statute does not require a particular type of</u> <u>funding, only that the project be financed by public</u> <u>money</u>, which the contract was.

*Bombardier* at 248 n. 3 (emphasis added). If the DOA's money in *Bombardier* was public money, then its money in this Case is also public money, because there is no evidence in the record showing that DOA's flooring contract in this case was funded differently. Yet here we are with the DOA completely ignoring this Court's ruling against it in *Bombardier*, which compels the conclusion that the DOA is intent on ignoring both Nevada's legislative commands and this Court's holdings.

Additional case law supports the statutory analysis that money collected from airport operations is public money. "To take rent collected from one source and use it to pay obligations would plainly be a payment of public funds...." *McIntosh v. Aubry*, Cal.Rptr.2d 680, 688, 14 Cal.App.4th 1576, 1588 (Cal.App. 1 Dist., 1993) (superseded by statute). The DOA asserts that it collects money from airline rents<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> An interesting statutory point exists as to the DOA's argument that it is financed through airline rents. "Public utility' means a person who operates any airline...." NRS 496.020(7). As such, the DOA receives money from a public utility pursuant to the lease agreements with airlines. The money being transferred from the airlines to the DOA is therefore moving from a public utility to a public entity for a public purpose. Holding that such money is not public and subject to public laws would be inconsistent with the money's public nature and purpose.

for the purpose of meeting its public obligations. *McIntosh* makes clear that the DOA's conduct is a plain receipt and expenditure of public money.

This Court has memorialized the well-articulated rule in *MacIntosh* when addressing NRS 338's prevailing wage requirements. "For example, a private project constructed to a public agency's specification as part of an arrangement for the project's eventual purchase by the public agency would be a public work." *Carson-Tahoe Hosp. v. Building & Const. Trades Council of Northern Nevada*, 128 P.3d 1065, 1068, 122 Nev. 218, 222 (2006). That example explains that despite the use of private money to construct a project that is not yet, but will become a public facility, is nonetheless a public-works project.

This case law demonstrates that regardless of source, money used to produce a property intended for use as a public facility is public money. Hence, even private money is subject to the requirements of NRS 338 where it is invested in a public facility. To hold otherwise would invite other public bodies (even those less inclined than the DOA to disregard the rulings of the District Court and this Court) to avoid statutory commands through manipulative contracting efforts intentionally designed to skirt (i.e., ignore) legal requirements. This Court cannot permit the DOA's fanciful and self-serving legal positions to supersede the statutory requirements established by the Nevada Legislature, especially those that have already been acknowledged by this Court in binding caselaw.

#### d. DOA is contractually bound to perform a public purpose.

At the District Court, DOA asserted that it has a contractual obligation to the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA") to be self-funded. App. 310:11-19. DOA pointed to 49 U.S.C. § 47101(a) when asserting its right to use money without regard to state law. However, 49 U.S.C. § 47101(a) is not a preemptive statute as there is no peremptory intent declared from the United States Congress and there is no conflict with state law. In fact, 49 U.S.C. § 47101(a) requires that "the airport will be available for public use...." Federal law and DOA's contractual relationship with the FAA parallel state laws that define the DOA's operations as being for public use. The \$556 million dollars in annual revenues received by the DOA are therefore contractually intended for public rather than private purposes.

#### 2. The Court must reject DOA's effort to relitigate the Case.

The DOA's appeal presents a *new* argument not presented to the Labor Commissioner nor properly presented to the District Court. "A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981). DOA asserted, for the first time, in its motion to reconsider before the trial court, that it should be allowed to present evidence to the Labor Commissioner that separate and individual units of the contract – the contract that arose from the DOA's single request for bids covering the entire project – were in fact separate maintenance units. App. 403:9-12. However, the DOA chose to defend on the argument that the "contract was a maintenance contract" rather than looking at the separate project units. The District Court then correctly ruled, "The Motion must be denied as one for reconsideration under EDCR 2.24 because it fails to present new evidence or identify misapprehension of law." App. 500:4-5.

a. <u>The whole administrative record indicates that the Labor Commissioner</u> considered the contract to be one of maintenance, as argued by the DOA.

The entire administrative record shows that the DOA's contract is not a maintenance contract. "The court may remand or affirm the final decision or set it aside in whole or in part if ... the agency is: Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence **on the whole record**." NRS 233B.135(3)(e) (emphasis added), *see also Department of Prisons v. Jackson*, 111 Nev. 770, 895 P.2d 1296, (1995), overruled in part, *O'Keefe v. State DMV*, 134 Nev. 752, 431 P.3d 350, (2018); *Dubray v. Coeur Rochester, Inc.*, 112 Nev. 332, 913 P.2d 1289 (1996) (cases indicating that courts may evaluate and rule based upon the <u>whole</u> record and are not bound to a strict review of an agency's determination).

DOA argued the maintenance issue extensively before the Labor Commissioner. Here are some examples of its arguments: "As an initial matter, NRS Chapter 338 (including the prevailing wage requirement) is explicitly excluded from contracts issued under NRS Chapter 332 related to the normal maintenance of property. Specifically, NRS 338.011 provides [contracts relating to normal maintenance are excluded.]" (App. 236); "Here the contract at issue is for carpet maintenance" (App. 239); "The DOA uses airline revenues to finance its operations, including the carpet maintenance that is presently at issue before the Labor Commissioner" (App. 244); "More specifically with regard the carpet work in question, all of the work performed as part of that bid was budgeted for as a part of the CCDOA operations and maintenance budget." (App. 241) The Labor Commissioner's determination specifically accepts the DOA's arguments that the contract is for "maintenance." To wit, "DOA asserted carpet maintenance work….." App. 007.

Moreover, the DOA's own words in its February 12, 2018 letter to the Labor Commissioner specifically describe a large scale contract with a scope of work involving 12,000 square yards of carpet and 5,000 linear feet of base cove. App. 230. That letter describes how the DOA sought to separate the project into smaller units to avoid NRS 338 *et seq*. The DOA declared, "Since each of these areas is separate, the cost of the material and labor is significantly below the \$250,000 threshold set forth for determining prevailing wages under NRS Chapter 338." App. 231. DOA's contracting practices are illegal under NRS 338.080(3), NRS 338.1385(1)(c) and NRS 338.143(1)(c), which read respectively as follows: "A unit of the project must not be separated from the total project, even if that unit is to be completed at a later time, in order to lower the estimated cost of the project below \$100,000" (NRS 338.080(3)); "Divide a public work into separate portions to avoid the requirements of paragraph (a) or (b)" (NRS 338.1385(1)(c)); and "Divide a public work into separate portions to avoid the requirements of paragraph (a) or (b)" (NRS 338.143(1)(c)). The District Court was not fooled by DOA's effort to disguise a repair contract as a "maintenance" contract and neither should this Court be.

Consistent with its manifest belief that it is above the law, the DOA has now unabashedly asked this Court to sanction a violation of NRS 338.080(3), 338.1385(1)(c) and 338.143(1)(c) by declaring that the Labor Commissioner must look at the discrete individual project units to determine if that unit constitutes maintenance. This Court does not accept piecemeal litigation. So why should it allow the avoidance of NRS 338's express commands by way of the DOA's piecemeal contract calling for "a little carpet here and a little carpet there" until the whole airport is re-carpeted? It should not do so because statutory provisions declare such efforts to be illegal and the Court has previously addressed the impropriety of doing so (see additional argument below).

#### b. The District Court record confirms that DOA argued the maintenance

#### issue extensively at the administrative level and before the court.

DOA argued extensively to the District Court, while citing to the Administrative Record, that the contract was a maintenance contract and was therefore not subject to Nevada's prevailing wage laws. *See* generally App. 308:11-309:8; 311:5-313-20. Here are a few of the DOA's revealing arguments to the District Court: "Should the Labor Commissioner's determination be affirmed because the carpet maintenance contract pertains to the normal maintenance of the DOA's property?" App. 308:6-8; "Because the contract pertains to the ongoing maintenance of worn carpet tiles in various areas throughout the McCarran International Airport, the DOA properly bid the contract as a maintenance contract under NRS Chapter 332." *Id.* 308:20-22;

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